IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ROBERT L. SANDERS

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-0787-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS
Benjamin A. Suber, MS Bar
301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Robert L. Sanders

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ROBERT L. SANDERS

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-0787-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING SANDERS MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Lafayette County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction of Simple Robbery. Robert L. Sanders was sentenced to fifteen (15) years in the custody of the Department of Corrections, with three (3) years suspended and twelve (12) to serve, following a jury trial on April 15-16, 2008, Honorable Henry L. Lackey, presiding. Sanders is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

On or around 1:00 a.m. on December 16, 2007, an individual came into the Subway in Oxford, Mississippi, and took money from the cash register. Tr. 78. According to the testimony of Kelly Bergmann and Edward Dominic McNeil an individual walked into Subway on University Avenue. Tr. 78, 107. The individual walked up to the counter and was speaking very low. Tr. 108.

Unable to understand what the individual was saying, Bergmann kept asking the individual to repeat himself. *Id.* She thought that the individual was asking for change of a dollar. *Id.*

McNeil came over to assist Bergmann, but McNeil was unable to understand what the individual was saying also. Tr. 117. However, the individual pulled out some change and McNeil figured that the individual wanted to make some sort of change. *Id.* Since McNeil was handling the situation, Bergmann decided to leave and go to the restroom. Tr. 109, 118.

McNeil walks over to the cash register and the individual acts like he is going to give McNeil some change. Tr. 118. McNeil hits the cash drop button on the cash register to open up the register. *Id.* After the register is open, the individual tells McNeil to give him all of the money in the register. *Id.* McNeil did not believe him at first, thought he was kidding. *Id.*

McNeil points up to the camera and told the alleged robber that the camera was on him and that he would not get very far. *Id.* The individual puts his hand in the front pocket of his shirt and demands the money in the register. *Id.* McNeil told the person that it only looked like his finger and not a weapon and that he did not want to do this. *Id.* The individual indicated that there was more than just his hand. *Id.* McNeil ultimately gave the individual the money from the register. McNeil stated that he was not willing to die for Subway. *Id.* After getting the money, the individual left Subway and went towards University Avenue. *Id.*

The police were called and they reported to Subway. Tr. 112. Bergmann and McNeil told the police that the alleged robber was a black male in his late thirties or early forties. Tr. 114. He was wearing a dark blue sweatshirt with a hood and a ball cap. *Id.* The hood was over the top of the ball cap. Tr. 108. His hands were very rough looking and very gray as if he worked in the construction industry or outside. *Id.* McNeil stated that the individual was stuttering and very hard

to understand. Tr. 114-15. McNeil also stated that the individual was taller than him. Tr. 118. The alleged robber also had some facial hair, and a space in his teeth. *Id*.

Officer Williams reported to Subway on the morning of December 16, 2007. Tr. 78. Patrol Officers, along with a dog, were looking for the suspect. *Id.* Officer Williams presented an array of various photographs that met the description that McNeil had given him. Tr. 80. McNeil could not identify the suspect from the photos that Officer Williams presented. Tr. 81.

A few days after the incident, Officer McAllister was conducting an investigation around River Hills in Oxford and ran across a person that matched the description of the person that had robbed the Subway. Tr. 105. Officer McAllister contacted Officer Stark to identify the person. Tr. 105-106.

Officer Stark recognized the picture of the person, but could not identify him by name. Tr. 99. Officer Stark rode up to an area called River Hills to try to encounter the person that met the description of the person that allegedly robbed subway. Tr. 100. Officer Stark ran into the person sitting on the porch at a house located at 157 Vaughn Circle. *Id*.

The person sitting on the porch was Robert Sanders. Tr. 101. Officer Stark noticed that Sanders had a gap in his teeth and had somewhat of a speech impediment. *Id.* Officer Williams then attained a photograph of Sanders from the Lafayette County Detention Center and showed it to McNeil at Subway and McNeil identified Sanders as the man that robbed Subway. Tr. 89.

Petsey Sanders testified that Robert Sanders did not rob the Subway. Tr. 137. She stated that they live on the other side of town and on the night in question; her husband Robert Sanders was at home asleep. Id. Petsey stated that she was at home with her husband and their two children. Tr. 137-138. Everyone was in bed and she was up cleaning the house. Tr. 138.

Robert Sanders was arrested and charged with armed robbery. He was found guilty of simple robbery and is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellant, Robert L. Sanders, is entitled to a reversal of his case and a new trial. The evidence presented did not warrant a verdict of guilty. Bergmann could not with certainty identify Sanders as the alleged robber.

Also no scientific or physical evidence was presented at trial linking Sanders to the alleged robbery on the night in question. The only evidence identifying Sanders was from McNeil. The verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and this was reversible error and Sanders is entitled to a new trial.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING SANDERS MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

In trial counsel's Motion for a New Trial, counsel specifically argued that the jury's verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. C.P. 31, R.E. 8. The trial judge denied this motion. C.P. 39, R.E. 9.

In Bush v. State, the Mississippi Supreme Court set forth the standard of review as follows:

When reviewing a denial of a motion for a new trial based on an objection to the weight of the evidence, we will only disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997). We have stated that on a motion for new trial, the court sits as a thirteenth juror. The motion, however, is addressed to the discretion of the court, which should be exercised with caution, and the power to grant a new trial should be invoked only in exceptional cases in which the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict. *Amiker v. Drugs For Less, Inc.*, 796 So.2d 942, 947 (Miss.2000). However, the evidence should be weighed in the light most favorable to the verdict. *Herring*, 691

So.2d at 957. A reversal on the grounds that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, "unlike a reversal based on insufficient evidence, does not mean that acquittal was the only proper verdict." *McQueen v. State*, 423 So.2d 800, 803 (Miss.1982). Rather, as the "thirteenth juror," the court simply disagrees with the jury's resolution of the conflicting testimony. *Id.* This difference of opinion does not signify acquittal any more than a disagreement among the jurors themselves. *Id.* Instead, the proper remedy is to grant a new trial.

Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005) (footnotes omitted).

In the present case, Sanders is at a minimum entitled to a new trial as the verdict was clearly against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. No evidence was presented to connect Sanders to the robbery at Subway other than McNeil picking Sanders out of a photo lineup. The other eyewitness, Bergmann, could not even identify Sanders in court with certainty. Tr. 112. In fact Bergmann was never asked by police to try and identify the alleged robber in person or by any photograph prior to trial. Tr. *Id.*

After the alleged robbery, the police were called to Subway. Tr. 112. Bergmann and McNeil told the police that the alleged robber was a black male in his late thirties or early forties. Tr. 114. He was wearing a dark blue sweatshirt with a hood and a ball cap. *Id.* The hood was over the top of the ball cap. Tr. 108. His hands were very rough looking and very gray as if he worked in the construction industry or outside. *Id.* McNeil stated that the individual was stuttering and very hard to understand. Tr. 114-15. McNeil also stated that the individual was taller than him. Tr. 118. The alleged robber also had some facial hair, and a space in his teeth. *Id.* So basically the police were looking for an individual that was slightly taller than a 5'7" McNeil, with some facial hair, that had a small gap in his teeth, spoke with a slight stutter, and had a grayish look to his hands like he worked in the construction industry possibly cement.

The description of the alleged robber still leaves the door wide open to numerous individuals.

Many men are over 5'7"and have facial hair. Many men will have a small gap in their teeth and

possibly work outside with their hands. Also, from the testimony of Bergmann and McNeil, neither one could understand the alleged robber, but that is more than likely because he was trying to disguise his voice or hide it from them best he could. Tr. 108, 117-18.

Coincidently a few days after the robbery at Subway, the police just happen to find an individual that matched the description of the suspect perfectly? As Officer McAllister was conducting an investigation around River Hills in Oxford, he ran across a person that matched the description of the person that had robbed the Subway. Tr. 105. Officer McAllister contacted Officer Stark to identify the person. Tr. 105-106.

Officer Stark recognized the picture of the person, but could not identify him by name. Tr. 99. Officer Stark rode up to an area called River Hills to try to encounter the person that met the description of the person that allegedly robbed Subway. Tr. 100. Officer Stark ran into the person sitting on the porch at a house located at 157 Vaughn Circle. *Id*.

The person sitting on the porch was Robert Sanders. Tr. 101. Officer Stark noticed that Sanders had a gap in his teeth and had somewhat of a speech impediment. *Id.* Officer Williams then attained a photograph of Sanders from the Lafayette County Detention Center and showed it to McNeil at Subway and McNeil identified Sanders as the man that robbed Subway. Tr. 89. No other evidence was introduced that collaborated McNeil's identification.

No physical or scientific evidence was presented at trial to show that Sanders was present during this alleged robbery. No fingerprints were taken from the Subway. No videos of inside the store were attained and no video from the parking lot were presented at trial that show Sanders as the alleged robber. In fact McNeil stated that he showed the camera to the individual that was trying to get the money, but the video camera did not work. Tr. 118. The alleged gun that was used in the

alleged robbery was never recovered. Id. No evidence was presented other than the testimony of

McNeil that connects Sanders to the alleged robbery in the Subway in Oxford. Tr. 121-22.

According to both Bergmann and McNeil, the assailant was wearing a ball cap and a hooded

sweatshirt. Tr. 108, 114. The alleged robber had the hood over his ball cap on top of his head.

Bergmann was not able to identify the individual because he was trying to hide himself, but McNeil

was able to with certainty? It would be a great injustice for this conviction to stand in that no

reasonable jury could convict Sanders based on the testimony of the witnesses McNeil, the

identification, and the lack of any other type of evidence implicating Sanders. Plus the fact that

Bergmann could not identify Sanders as the one who robbed the Subway. Tr. 112.

The verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Sanders therefore

respectfully asserts that the foregoing facts demonstrate that the verdict was against the

overwhelming weight of the evidence, and the Court should reverse and remand for a new trial. To

allow this verdict to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. See Hawthorne v. State, 883

So.2d 86 (Miss. 2004).

CONCLUSION

Robert L. Sanders requests that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the

evidence, and therefore the Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.