ROBERT L. SANDERS

VS.

1

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

NO. 2008-KA-0787

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

.

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Robert L. Sanders was tried in the Circuit Court of Lafayette County on a charge of armed robbery, convicted of the lesser offense of simple robbery, and sentenced to a term of 15 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with three years suspended. (C.P.26-27) Aggrieved by the judgment rendered against him, Sanders has perfected an appeal to this Court.

Substantive Facts

At approximately 1:00 the morning of December 26, 2007, Sergeant Jimmy Williams of the Oxford Police Department was dispatched to investigate a reported robbery at the Subway sandwich shop on University Avenue. When he arrived there, Sergeant Williams spoke with the cashier, Dominic McNeil, who stated that "they had been robbed." Sergeant Williams observed that "[t]here were other patrol officers in the area out looking for the suspect." (T.77-79) When asked to elaborate on what Mr. McNeil had told him, Sergeant Williams testified as follows:

[H]e said the suspect came into the store and asked for change for a dollar bill and as he opened the drawer he said give me all your money. And Mr. McNeil said you are kidding. He said, no, I'm serious. He said, give me all the money and McNeil stated that he indicated, he stuck his hand in his pocket. He had on dark clothing, he said, like a sweat shirt on. Apparently it must have had a pocket or something because the suspect had his hand in his pocket and it was pointed like this and he said, no. Dominick said that is not a gun. That is your finger. He said no, I have something in here and he gave him the cash tendered from the drawer and the suspect left.

(T.79)

Mr. McNeil described the suspect as a black male, about six feet one inch tall, and said that he had a stutter or some sort of speech impediment, rough hands, and "something wrong with his teeth." According to Sergeant Williams, "[a]Il this information was put out to other units." (T.80)

Captains attempted to track the suspect by using a police dog, but they were unsuccessful. The next morning, Sergeant Williams presented Mr. McNeil with a photographic lineup, but this, too, proved fruitless. (T.79-83)

Within the next week, Agent Chris McAllister of the Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics informed Sergeant Williams that "he had a suspect," whom he had identified from information obtained "from the metro narcotics unit." Ultimately, Sergeant Williams learned that this suspect was Robert L. Sanders. He then obtained a photograph of Sanders, assembled another photographic lineup containing this photograph, and showed it to Mr. McNeil, who immediately, unequivocally and without hesitation identified Sanders as the robber. Thereafter, Sergeant Williams obtained a warrant for Sanders's arrest and "placed a bolo" for him. (T.83-90)

Captain Kevin Stark of the Oxford Police Department testified that his duties included patrolling in neighborhoods, particularly high-crime areas such as River Hills. When Captain Stark was asked whether he had ever encountered the defendant, Robert Sanders, he answered, "Yes." (T.98-99) He went on to testify as follows:

> This was back in December, I received a call from another law enforcement [Agent McAllister] officer who was conducting an investigation. He ask[ed] me if he [sic] could identify this certain person that he had an image of. I looked at the image. I told him I couldn't identify him by name but I just saw him walking on the street in this particular neighborhood.

* * * * *

After I looked at the image and told him I didn't know him but I just saw him. We decided that since I'd been up there just a few minutes prior talking to people I would see if I could see him again and engage him in conversation and see if I could get him to tell me his name.

(T.99-100)

Captain Stark then "drove back up on Robinson Road" and "[t]urned on Pegues then

on Vaughn Circle" where he had seen "this person walking." He "encountered him again."

This individual "was sitting on the porch at one of the houses." Upon engaging him in a

conversation, Captain Stark noticed that he "had somewhat of a speech impediment" and "a

¹Captain Stark testified that this address on Vaughn Circle, in the River Hills neighborhood, was approximately one half mile "[b]y way of the street" from the Subway on University Avenue. The route "through the back ways" was shorter. (T.101)

gap in his teeth." The suspect, who identified himself as Robert Sanders, told Captain Stark that he worked at Martin Brothers, a concrete construction business. At the conclusion of this conversation, Captain Stark "went back and met with Agent McAllister" and gave him this information. (T.100-03)

Agent McAllister testified that in December 2007, he learned of the investigation of this robbery and was provided with a description of the suspect. On the Wednesday following the robbery, while conducting his own investigation in the River Hills area, he "came in contact" with a person matching the description.² At that point, he asked Captain Stark to help him identify the suspect. (T.104-06)

Kelly Bergman, a student at the University of Mississippi, was working with Mr. McNeil at the Subway that night. At approximately 1:00 a.m., Mrs. Bergman was "up front" while Mr. McNeil was "in the back doing work to clean up to get ready to close. That was about the time" a man walked into the store. He wearing a hooded sweatshirt, and she noticed that "his hands were very rough looking and gray as if he did some sort of construction ... like he had been working outside." Mrs. Bergman offered to take his order, but she could not understand his responses. According to her, "It sounded like he was asking for change ... or something ..." Finally, Mr. McNeil approached the register to try to accommodate the man, and Mrs. Bergman went to the ladies' room. (T.107-09)

When she returned to the front of the shop, the man "was already gone." Mr. McNeil, in the process of telephoning the authorities, told her that he had been robbed. (T.112)

²Agent McAllister identified this man as the defendant. (T.106)

The prosecutor asked Mrs. Bergman, "Do you know whether any one here is the man

that robbed you?" She answered, "Not with certainty, no." (T.112)

The state finally called Mr. McNeil, also a student at the University of Mississippi, and asked him whether "anything unusual" had happened during the morning in question. (T.114) Mr. McNeil responded as follows:

Yes, sir. We had an older male come in, black male about 30 late 30's or early 40's. He came in. He had a dark blue sweat shirt hoody on with a ball cap and he came in. We didn't understand what he was saying at first. It was side of a dollar or change for a dollar or change with a dollar.

 $(T.114)^{3}$

They had difficulty understanding the man because he had some sort of speech impediment.

As Mrs. Bergman was putting on her gloves to prepare to make a sandwich, Mr. McNeil

"came from the side of the bane ... to assist her to see if she needed any help." (T.114-15)

When the man "took out some change," Mr. McNeil "figured he wanted to change his change

to a dollar." At that point, Mrs. Bergman went to the restroom. (T.117-18) Mr. McNeil

described what happened next as follows:

So she leaves the room and it's me and him, he is a little bit taller than me. He had some facial hair and I noticed he had some space in his teeth and he goes to hand me some change so I hit cash drop which is our no sale button basically to open up the register and at that point he said give me the money in the register.

* * * * *

 $^{^{3}}$ Mr. McNeil testified that he was in a position to see this individual before he actually entered the store. (T.116)

Give me the money in the register. So I didn't believe him. I thought he was just kidding. I said, no man, you are joking. He said no man give me the money in the register. I point up there is a camera pointing down. I said we have a camera on you, you are not going to get that far. He said no, give me the money in the register. So he puts his hand in the front part of his hoody, there is pockets in it and he does something but points through his hoody with something in there and said give me the money in the register and I said, man it's just your hand. You don't want to do this. He said no it's more than just my hand. I said, all right it's not worth dying for Subway for. So I gave him the money from the register and he goes out the same way he came from University Avenue.

$(T.118)^4$

When the man reached out to take the money, Mr. McNeil noticed that he "had really gray rough hands like he worked in ... construction or concrete ... " (T.119)

Mr. McNeil corroborated Sergeant Williams's testimony about the photographic lineups. Regarding his perusal of the second array, Mr. McNeil testified that he had positively identified the defendant as the robber. He also made a positive in-court identification of the defendant. Asked whether he had any doubt about this identification, Mr. McNeil answered, "No, sir." Finally, Mr. McNeil testified that he relinquished the money because he was "scared" and "didn't want to die." (T.121-24)

The defense called one witness, the defendant's wife, Petsey Sanders, who testified that the defendant was at home with her at the time this crime was committed. (T.139)

⁴Mr. McNeil ascertained later that the surveillance camera was not working at the time. (T.120)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The state submits the verdict is not contrary to the overwhelming weight of the

evidence. The state presented substantial proof that the defendant was guilty of robbery.

PROPOSITION ONE:

THE VERDICT IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

The sole issue presented on this appeal is whether the trial court erred in denying his

motion for new trial on the ground the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the

evidence. To prevail, Sanders must satisfy the following formidable standard of review:

The standard of review in determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence is also well settled. "[T]his Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." Collins v. State, 757 So.2d 335, 337(¶ 5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (quoting Dudley v. State, 719 So.2d 180, 182(¶ 9) (Miss.1998)). On review, the State is given "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." Collins, 757 So.2d at 337(¶ 5) (citing Griffin v. State, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss.1992)). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." Collins, 757 So.2d at 337(¶ 5) (quoting *Dudley*, 719 So.2d at 182).

Carle v. State, 864 So.2d 993, 998 (Miss. App. 2004).

It has been "held in numerous cases that the jury is the sole judge of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be attached to their testimony." *Kohlberg v. State*, 704 So.2d 1307, 1311 (Miss.1997). As the Mississippi Supreme Court reiterated in *Hales v. State*, 933 So.2d 962, 968 (Miss.2006), criminal cases will not be reversed "where there is a straight issue of fact, or a conflict in the facts..." [citations omitted] Rather, "juries are impaneled for

the very purpose of passing upon such questions of disputed fact, and [the Court does] not intend to invade the province and prerogative of the jury. " [citations omitted]

In this case, "[t]here was not a great deal of evidence for the fact finder to weigh since the defendant did not testify." *White v. State*, 722 So.2d 1242, 1247 (Miss.1998). While Sanders had the right not to take the stand, his failure to do so left the jury free to give "full effect" to the state's evidence against him. *Miller v. State*, 983 So.2d 1051, 1054 (Miss.2008), citing *White*.

The center of Sanders's argument is an attack on the state's proof of identity. We incorporate by reference the proof set out in our Statement of Substantive Facts to support our position that the prosecution presented substantial credible evidence that Robert Sanders committed this robbery. Specifically, Mr. McNeil identified Sanders unequivocally and without hesitation from both the photographic lineup and at trial.⁵ See *Houston v. State,* 887 So.2d 808, 816 (Miss. App. 2004). This case presented a straight issue of fact which was properly resolved by the jurors. No basis exists for disturbing their verdict.

⁵As for Mrs. Bergman's inability to make a positive identification, the state submits the evidence supports the inference that Mr. McNeil had a better opportunity and more time to observe the robber. In any case, this issue was for the jury's determination.